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*The Henry Ihitfield House, with its steep roof and massive end chimneys is 
an extraordinary example of early New England masonry architecture. 
Resembling the architecture of northern England, it has two end chimneys 
on the exterior that are corbeled in the front like those of the Cotswold 
cottages. The stone comprising the house is not dressed, rather laid in 
coursed rubble pattern. At ?ahdows and entryways are large stone lintels. 
The roof is steeply pitched at 60 degrees, for it was originally thatched 
and had to shed the rain.

The house has five rooms the Great Hall and kitchen on the first floor 
and three chambers on the second.* The Great Hall is 33 feet long and 
1$ feet wide and has a fireplace at each end. NThe ell to the rear contain­ 
ing the kitchen is probably later by a very few years. The stairs leading 
to the second floor are in a separate stair tower,, a common feature of 
English houses.\ The north fireplace in the Great Hall is the largest, 
stretching 10 feet h inches in width. It is all original material except 
for the oak lintel and, some of the masonry directly above it. The smaller 
fireplace in the room directly above is also mostly original; the other 
four have been rebuilt, modeled on those extant.

J. Frederick Kelly, whose pioneer work, Early Domestic Architecture of 
Cpnnecticutj published in 19214. has not been supplanted, reconstructed 
the kitchen ell in 1930 and completed the restoration' of. the -entire 
house in 1937. Exterior work was based largely upon the earliest known 
print of the house Yriiich appeared in the "Ladies Repository Magazine" 
in l8i|2. The major changes included the pitch of the roof, the replacement 
of the small casement windows and leaded "quarrels", the removal of the 
stucco added in 1868, and the building of the south end chinmey. Added 
were dormers to allow light for the museum in the attic. The interior 
work primarily involved reconstruction of the fireplaces and the replace­ 
ment of the second floor at the front, for during the early years as a 
museum the Great Hall was the full two'stories high. The completion of 
the work was celebrated on October 20, 1937 

Until 1972 the house was operated by a board of trtstees; in July of
1972 it will come under the auspices of the Connecticut Historical Commission.
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The YJhitfield house is significant both because of its age and because 
of its association with the founders of the tovm of Guilford. It was 
the first dwelling built at the settlement and is said to be the .oldest 
stone house still standing in New England.

Henry Whitfield was born in Greenwich, Keni^ probably in June of 15>92. 
The son of Thomas, a prominent London lawyer, and Mildred Manning of 
Greenwich,, he attended Winchester College (School) and entered New 
College, Oxford^ on June 8, 1610, intending to follow his father's 
profession. He changed to the ministry, however, and was ordained 
a minister of the Church of England in l6l8. In the same year he 
married Dorothy Shaeffe of Kent, and became vicar of St. Margaret's 
Church of Ockley.

After 1625, with the reign of Charles I, religious tolerance was 
threatened for Separatists and Puritans, many of whom were censured and 
forced to leave England. The Reverend Whitfield was not among the 
Dissidents at first, but as the.established church grew more rigid 
and more papist, his sympathies shifted to those who advocated ref-orm. 
Eventually he was called before the High Commission and censured. 
In 1638, "Whitfield resigned from the Ockley church and gathered together 
twenty-five young families and made plans to emigrate. Most of those 
whom he gathered were Puritan farmers from Surrey and Kent, but a few 
came from the north. The Reverend John Davenport, a friend of "Whitfield, 
had emigrated and founded New Haven Colony, and a college friend, George 
Fenwick, had helped found Saybrook in 1635. It was natural then for 
Wiitfield to aim for the shores of what is now Connecticut. It was 
there decided that 1'Jhitfield Yfould found a settlement halfway between 
the two already existing on the shore, and in September, 1.639 3 land 
was purchased from the Menuncatuck Indians at what is now Guilford.

Because of the lateness in the year, probably only half of the cellar 
and the Great Hall with the north fireplace were finished before winter. 
The south wall enclosing the house was probably made of timber to give 
shelter the first winter and was rebuilt the following year of stone 
found about a quarter of a mile away. Also built the next year were the 
second floor and the garret. The house very much resembles those of the

Cotswolds, in the north of England, with the exterior end chimneys and
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steeply pitched roofs. Willi^^B^^^^^O^t the apparnet leaders among 
that first group of settlers, wa>-4li^jda%iDridgeshire, and may well have 
had charge of or influence over the building of the first house, hence its 
resemblance to those of the north. The house, as well as being the TOiii>- 
field T s residence (Mrs. 1/tfhitfield and seven children accompanied the Rev­ 
erend)^ served as headquarters for the twenty-five families, a meeting 
house, and a garrison^ The Great Hall probably served as a dining room 
as well as a place for services.

In 16^0, Henry Whitfield returned to England with some of his children. 
Most, however, remained in Guilford with Dame Dorothy and married local 
people. It is not clear virhy Whitfield returned to England without his 
wife, but he died there in l65>7 and was buried on September 17 in Win­ 
chester Cathedral, Dorothy stayed in America until l6£9 then returned 
to England and died there in 1669. Mien she left Guilford, she offered 
the house to the town, possibly as an educational facility, but it could 
not afford to purchase it at the time. Major Robert Thompson, a friend 
of Nathaniel, son of Henry, bought the house sometime after l6£9, apparently 
as a favor to the family. He died in 169!^ leaving the income from the 
estate to his wife, Francis, but the title with his male heirs, Joseph, 
William, and Robert, who rented the house and land. In 1772, the property 
was sold to Wyllys Eliot of Guilford for 3000 pounds, current lawful money 
of New England. About two weeks later, on November 6, 1772, the property 
was sold to Joseph Pynchon' the first owner to actually live in the house 
since the Whitfields. He was a prominent man, a representative to the 
General Assembly in 1768 and 1769, a justice for the county of New Haven 
from 1768 to 1770, and a selectman of Guilford. In 1776 Jasper Griffing 
became the owner when Pynchon moved to New Haven. Various branches of the 
Griff ing family ovmed the property until 1900. In l868*<bhe house was 
altered considerably by Many Chittendon and Henry D. Cone. Chimneys and 
fireplaces were changed, the exterior was covered wi.th stucco, and a~new 
roof 3 less steep, was added.

By the end of the 19th century the deterioration of the house had become 
so apparent and the matter of ownership so involved that in the face of 
a threat to demolish it, a movement was begun to have it purchased by 
the State. In 1897 members of the Connecticut Society of Colonial Dames 
of America took the first steps toward pushing for State-ownership. 
Some money was allocated by the State Legislature, some by the Town of 
Guilford/ some from the residents, and an amount from the Colonial Dames. 
In 1903 Governor Lounsbury appointed the first board of trustees and the 
Henry Whitfield House was formally opened as a museum.



The Henry Whitfield House, Trustees of the Henry VJhitfie Id House, 1970.
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